# BIOLOGICAL REVIEWS

*Biol. Rev.* (2009), **84**, pp. 1–17. doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2008.00058.x

# Heterotrophy in tropical scleractinian corals

Fanny Houlbrèque<sup>1,2</sup>\* and Christine Ferrier-Pagès<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Stanford University, Geological & Environmental Sciences, Stanford University, 450 Serra Mall, Bldg 320, Room 118, Stanford, CA94305-2115, USA

<sup>2</sup> International Atomic Energy Agency, Marine Environment Laboratories, 4 Quai Antoine<sup>1er</sup>, BP 800-98012 Monaco, Principality of Monaco

<sup>3</sup> Centre Scientifique de Monaco, c/o Musée Océanographique, Avenue Saint-Martin, Monaco, MC 98000

(Received 5 December 2007; revised 26 September 2008; accepted 30 September 2008)

# ABSTRACT

The dual character of corals, that they are both auto- and heterotrophs, was recognized early in the twentieth Century. It is generally accepted that the symbiotic association between corals and their endosymbiotic algae (called zooxanthellae) is fundamental to the development of coral reefs in oligotrophic tropical oceans because zooxanthellae transfer the major part of their photosynthates to the coral host (autotrophic nutrition). However, numerous studies have confirmed that many species of corals are also active heterotrophs, ingesting organisms ranging from bacteria to mesozooplankton. Heterotrophy accounts for between 0 and 66% of the fixed carbon incorporated into coral skeletons and can meet from 15 to 35% of daily metabolic requirements in healthy corals and up to 100% in bleached corals. Apart from this carbon input, feeding is likely to be important to most scleractinian corals, since nitrogen, phosphorus, and other nutrients that cannot be supplied from photosynthesis by the coral's symbiotic algae must come from zooplankton capture, particulate matter or dissolved compounds. A recent study showed that during bleaching events some coral species, by increasing their feeding rates, are able to maintain and restore energy reserves.

This review assesses the importance and effects of heterotrophy in tropical scleractinian corals. We first provide background information on the different food sources (from dissolved organic matter to meso- and macrozooplankton). We then consider the nutritional inputs of feeding. Finally, we review feeding effects on the different physiological parameters of corals (tissue composition, photosynthesis and skeletal growth).

Key words: scleractinian corals, heterotrophic nutrition, zooplankton, picoplankton, nanoplankton, photo-synthesis, calcification.

# CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Food sources	2
	(1) Dissolved organic matter	2
	(2) Detrital particulate organic matter	3
	(3) Live particulate organic matter	3
	(a) Mesomacro-zooplankton and phytoplankton	3
	(b) Pico- and nanoplankton	5
III.	Heterotrophic nutrient inputs	5
	(1) Organic nitrogen input	5
	(2) Organic phosphorus input	7
	(3) Organic carbon input	7
	(4) Compensation heterotrophy/autotrophy	7
IV.	Effects of heterotrophy on coral physiology	8
	(1) Effects of heterotrophy on coral tissue	9

\* Address for correspondence: (E-mail: F.Houlbreque@iaea.org)

	(2) Effects of heterotrophy on photosynthesis	10
	(3) Effects of heterotrophy on skeletal growth	10
V.	Conclusions	11
VI.	Acknowledgements	12
VII.	References	12

# I. INTRODUCTION

The dual character of corals, that they are both auto- and heterotrophs, was recognized early in the twentieth Century (Yonge & Nicholls, 1931), particularly following the scientific reports of the Great Barrier Reef Expedition (1928-1929) of C.M. Yonge. These reports provided detailed information on reef coral physiology, especially on feeding behaviour and nutrition (Yonge, 1930a,b; Yonge & Nicholls, 1931) and also reviewed earlier literature on coral physiology (Vaughan, 1919). The role of zooplankton feeding was investigated by Goreau & Goreau (1960) and Goreau, Goreau & Yonge (1971). Since these famous works, numerous studies have confirmed that many species of corals are active heterotrophs (reviewed by Muscatine, 1973; Wellington, 1982; Sebens et al., 1996; Grottoli, 2002; Houlbrèque et al. 2004a,b; Palardy, Grottoli & Matthews (2005, 2006), and that heterotrophy accounts for between 0 and 66% of the fixed carbon incorporated into coral skeletons (Muscatine et al., 1989; Grottoli & Wellington, 1999). In addition to providing carbon, feeding is likely to be important to most scleractinian corals, since nitrogen, phosphorus, and other nutrients that cannot be supplied from photosynthesis by the coral's symbiotic algae must come from capture of zooplankton, particulate matter or dissolved compounds (Muscatine & Porter, 1977; Porter et al., 1984; Davies, 1991; Ferrier, 1991; Fabricius, Yahel & Genin, 1995; Grottoli & Wellington, 1999; Lesser et al., 2000). Heterotrophic carbon can also become a significant energy source for corals when photosynthetic carbon is unavailable, during bleaching events or in deep and/or turbid waters (Falkowski et al., 1984; Bythell, 1988; Muscatine & Weis, 1992; Anthony & Fabricius, 2000; Leletkin, 2000; Anthony & Connolly, 2004; Anthony, 2006).

This review assesses the importance and effects of heterotrophy in tropical scleractinian corals. We first provide background information on the different food sources (from dissolved organic matter to meso- and macrozooplankton). We then consider the nutritional inputs of feeding. Finally, we review its effects on the different physiological parameters of corals (tissue composition, photosynthesis and skeletal growth).

# **II. FOOD SOURCES**

Reviews on coral nutrition by Goreau *et al.* (1971) and Muscatine (1973) showed the extremely diverse multitrophic pathways of corals, acting as primary producers, carnivores, detritus feeders and also dissolved organic carbon scavengers. Many corals are known to be effective zooplankton feeders (Sebens, Witting & Helmuth, 1997), capturing particles upon contact by nematocyst discharges, tentacle grabbing, or mucus adhesion (Yonge, 1930a; Abe, 1938; Lewis & Price, 1975; Lewis, 1977; Sebens et al., 1998). Corals are also able to ingest particles from a wide size range (Anthony, 1999; DiSalvo, 1992; Sorokin, 1973; Sebens et al., 1996; Ferrier-Pagès et al., 1998; Palardy et al., 2005). This variety of nutrition sources includes dissolved and particulate organic matter (DOM and POM) (Lewis, 1977; Ferrier, 1991; Al-Moghrabi, Allemand & Couret, 1993; Mills & Sebens, 1997; Anthony, 1999; Anthony & Fabricius, 2000), picoplankton (Sorokin, 1973; Bak et al., 1998; Ferrier-Pagès et al., 1998; Houlbrèque et al., 2004b), nanoplankton such as ciliates (Ferrier-Pagès et al., 1998; Houlbrèque et al., 2004b) and mesomacro-zooplankton (Coles, 1969; Johannes, Cole & Kuenzel, 1970; Johannes & Tepley, 1974; Porter, 1974; Sebens et al., 1996; Palardy et al., 2005, 2006) (Fig. 1 illustrates the different plankton size classes included in the diet of scleractinian corals).

# (1) Dissolved organic matter

Numerous symbiotic coral species are able to take up dissolved organic matter (DOM), mainly in the form of carbohydrates, dissolved free amino acids (DFAA) and urea, even when DOM is in nanomolar concentrations (Stephens, 1960, 1962; Stephens & Schinske, 1961; Goreau et al., 1971; Al-Moghrabi et al., 1993; Ferrier, 1991, Grover et al., 2006, 2008). Stephens (1960) measured the removal of <sup>14</sup>Clabelled D-glucose from solution in sea water by the coral Fungia sp.. He showed that this species was capable of removing glucose from solution even at low concentrations and suggested that by utilizing naturally occurring carbohydrates in sea water, some coral species could obtain sufficient material to meet maintenance requirements in selected locations. Similarly, symbiotic corals have developed adaptations to take up the ammonium or urea byproducts of animal metabolism, suggesting a co-evolution process between host and symbionts (Furla et al., 2005).

Studies on DOM uptake rates by corals have mostly concerned urea (Wafar *et al.*, 1985, Wafar, Wafar & Raj Kumar, 1993; Grover *et al.*, 2006) and DFAA (Ferrier, 1991; Al-Moghrabi, *et al.*, 1993; Hoegh-Guldberg & Williamson, 1999; Grover *et al.*, 2008). Urea concentrations in sea water range from 0 to 13 µmol  $1^{-1}$ , with very low values in open ocean systems (Bronk, 2002). DFAA concentrations are even lower, ranging from 20 nmol  $1^{-1}$  to 1µmol  $1^{-1}$  (Palenik & Morel, 1990; Ferrier, 1991). However, since they are continuously recycled in the water column by microheterotrophs and also by larger animals such as fish, they are generally considered an important nitrogen source for phytoplankton (Maguer, Lecorre & Madec, 1996; Berman & Bronk, 2003) and zooxanthellae (Grover *et al.*, 2006,



**Fig. 1.** Plankton size classes: picoplankton, nanoplankton, microplankton and mesozooplankton included in the diet of scleractinian corals. (A, B) Scanning electron micrographs of (A) *Prochlorocccus* sp. (0.6  $\mu$ m) and (B) *Synechococcus* sp. (1  $\mu$ m) (http://www.lbl.gov/Archive/JGI-microbe-clues.html). (C) Epifluorescence microscope image showing one nanoflagellate cell indicated by a yellow arrow (previously stained with di amino phenyl indol (DAPI) and exposed to ultraviolet excitation). Image of (D) ciliates (mean total length is 100 – 200  $\mu$ m) taken under phase contrast microscope and (E) crab zoea (mean total length is 1000  $\mu$ m).

2008). Uptake of urea by the symbiotic association increases when urea concentrations and light levels increase (Grover et al., 2006), although the value of the carrier affinity  $(K_m = 1 \mu mol l^{-1})$  indicates that corals are well adapted to the low levels of urea usually found in sea water. At an in situ urea concentration of 0.3  $\mu$ mol l<sup>-1</sup>, the uptake rate is equal to 0.06 nmol N h<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup>. Several studies presented evidence for DFAA stimulating feeding in corals (Mariscal & Lenhoff, 1968; Goreau, 1961; Goreau et al., 1971; Lehman & Porter, 1973). For example, Goreau et al. (1971) discovered that low concentrations of glycine, alanine, phenylalanine and leucine trigger a typical feeding response, including extension of tentacles, swelling of the coenosarc, and sometimes extrusion of mesenterial filaments, in several Caribbean coral species. For the massive reef-building coral Montastrea cavernosa, glutamic acid is by far the most successful feeding activator, promoting tentacle extension (Lehman & Porter, 1973). Schlichter (1982) showed that the carbon and nitrogen within DFAA was an important energetic source for corals. More recent studies found that the uptake of DFAA was non-selective (Ferrier, 1991), and was light and concentration dependent (Al-Moghrabi et al., 1993; Grover et al., 2008). It also involves a membrane carrier, with a low affinity of 1.32  $\mu$ mol 1<sup>-1</sup> appropriate to the low concentrations measured in the environment (Al-Moghrabi et al., 1993; Grover et al., 2008). Uptake rates ranged from 4.5 to 100 nmol cm<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Ferrier, 1991; Grover et al., 2008), suggesting that DFAA represent a non-negligible contribution to the nitrogen input for these invertebrates (Ferrier, 1991; Al-Moghrabi et al., 1993).

# (2) Detrital particulate organic matter

Surface sediments on coral reefs contain bacteria, microbial exudates, protozoa, interstitial invertebrates, microalgae and sorbed and detrital organic matter (Lopez & Levinton,

1987) that are all potential food sources to corals. Several recent studies showed that corals can feed on, and benefit from, particles in suspension or trapped in the sediment (Anthony, 1999; Anthony & Fabricius, 2000), especially corals inhabiting turbid near-shore areas (Anthony, 2000). For these corals, rates of sediment ingestion are a linear function of sediment load, with an assimilation efficiency of 50-80% (Anthony, 2000). Active sediment ingestion followed by digestion of its organic content was revealed during experiments using sediment labeled with Fluoresceine or 14C in the corals Fungia horrida (Rosenfeld, Bresler & Abelson (1999) and Acropora millepora (Anthony, 2000). Mills & Sebens (2004) and Mills, Lipschultz & Sebens (2004) showed that suspended particulate matter or benthic sediments layered onto the surfaces of six different scleractinian coral species (Montastrea franksi, Diploria strigosa, Madracis mirabilis, Siderastrea siderea, Agaricia agaricites, and Porites astreoides) was ingested and nitrogen assimilated.

# (3) Live particulate organic matter

For a long time, scientists did not consider zooplankton a major nutritive source for corals. This lack of interest was partially explained by the fact that reef zooplankton densities were underestimated. The majority of zooplankton sampling was conducted during the day and biomass calculations only included oceanic planktonic species (Johannes *et al.*, 1970; Alldredge & King, 1977). Recently, more appropriate zooplankton sampling techniques have provided more accurate information on zooplankton concentrations (Heidelberg, Sebens & Purcell, 2004) suggesting that plankton could play a major role in coral metabolism.

# (a) Mesomacro-zooplankton and phytoplankton

Corals are voracious predators of zooplankton (Fig. 2) (Titlyanov et al., 2000a; Grottoli, 2002; Ferrier-Pagès et al.,



Fig. 2. Polyps of the scleractinian coral *Stylophora pistillata*, catching nauplii of the crustacean *Artemia salina*. (Photo by É. Tambutté, CSM, Monaco)

2003; Fabricius & Metzner, 2004; Palardy *et al.*, 2005, 2006; Grottoli, Rodrigues & Palardy, 2006), they can ingest from 0.5 to two prey items per polyp per hour of ingestion (Sebens *et al.*, 1996). Several studies measured substantial near-bottom depletion of mesozooplankton over different coral reefs, suggesting an intense grazing by benthic organisms, among which corals play a non-negligible role (Glynn, 1973; Hamner *et al.*, 1988; Yahel, Yahel & Genin, 2005*b*).

The zooplankton assembly over coral reefs consists of a complex, patchy and highly dynamic mixture of pelagic plankton advected to the reef (Tranter & George, 1969; Glynn, 1973; Sammarco & Crenshaw, 1984; Hamner et al., 1988; Carleton, Brinkman & Doherty, 2001; Heidelberg et al., 2004), eggs and larvae produced by reef inhabitants (Vaissière & Seguin, 1984; Echelman & Fishelson, 1990), and demersal plankton (Alldredge & King, 1977). This last group, consisting of organisms found near or within the substratum during the day and ascending into the water column at night, is especially conspicuous over coral reefs (Alldredge & King, 1977; Porter & Porter, 1977; McWilliam, Sale & Anderson, 1981; Ohlhorst, 1982; Lewis & Boers, 1991; Carleton & Hamner, 2007; Hamner, Colin & Hamner, 2007). At sunset, zooplankton biomass starts to increase rapidly (reviewed by Heidelberg et al., 2004, Yahel, Yahel & Berman, 2005a; Yahel et al., 2005b). The abundance of copepods of 500-700 µm in size, already relatively high during the daytime, is fivefold enhanced during the night (Yahel et al., 2005a). A greater than fourfold augmentation in the abundance of 500-710  $\mu$ m zoeas and other demersal crustaceans as well as larger zooplankton (>710 µm) (e.g. copepods, zoea, tunicates, and polychaetes) also characterizes the transition to nocturnal conditions (Yahel et al., 2005a).

It has therefore been assumed that corals feed primarily during the night, when zooplankton densities at the anthozoans' depth are highest (Sebens & DeRiemer, 1977; Heidelberg *et al.*, 2004; Yahel *et al.*, 2005*a*,b). Several coral species expand their tentacles only at night (Porter, 1974; Lewis & Price, 1975). In the Gulf of Aqaba, Red Sea, the massive corals *Favites* sp., *Favia favus*, and *Platygyra* spp. begin to expand their tentacles 15 - 45 min after sunset, reaching full expansion mode 60 min after sunset (Yahel *et al.*, 2005*a*). However this does not apply to all coral species; most *Porites* species have tentacles extended for feeding during both the night and day (Johannes & Tepley, 1974).

The ability of different coral species to feed on zooplankton has been quantified using several methodologies (Coles, 1969; Johannes et al., 1970; Porter, 1974, 1976; Lewis & Price, 1975; Lewis, 1976; Sebens & Johnson, 1991; Helmuth & Sebens, 1993; Sebens et al., 1996, 1997, 1998; Palardy et al., 2005, 2006; Grottoli et al., 2006). In laboratory conditions, Coles (1969) measured for the first time the energy provided by Artemia salina prey to corals during 10 hr feeding episodes and calculated that the three tropical corals tested were able to ingest several times as many calories daily from Artemia salina prey than they lose by respiration. Later, Lewis (1976) tested the ability of 15 species of Atlantic reef corals to act as suspension feeders by removing particles from sea water in culture vessels. He concluded that the rates of particle clearance of the coral Agaricia agaricites were influenced by both current velocity and type of food.

According to Porter (1976), the ability of a species to capture zooplankton is determined by its morphology. Species with low surface:volume (S:V) ratios (mounding, solitary, clusters) and large polyps would be zooplanktoncapture specialists whereas species with high S:V ratios (branching, plating) and small polyps are more likely to be "light-capture" specialists. However, field observations in the Caribbean Sea (Sebens et al., 1996, 1998) and the Gulf of Panama (Palardy et al., 2005, 2006) contradict the model of Porter (1976). Sebens et al. (1996) showed that branching corals with small polyps capture more zooplankton per unit biomass than do mounding corals with much larger polyps. Indeed, small polyp size alone does not appear to limit zooplankton feeding (Sebens et al., 1996), although it may limit the upper size captured for some kinds of prey. The type of tentacles and nematocysts present are likely to be more important for prey capture than polyp size alone. Two studies by Palardy et al. (2005, 2006) performed on the feeding rates of three different species of Eastern Pacific corals (Pocillobora damicornis, Pavona clavus and Pavona gigantea) demonstrated that the assemblage of captured zooplankton did not differ among species, depths, or seasons but that feeding rate increased with zooplankton abundance, depth and temperature. In addition, feeding rates were higher as S:V decreased and were independent of polyp size. Thus they concluded that feeding rate variations are due to increased feeding effort and not due to S:V ratio or polyp size.

The type of zooplankton found in the gut contents of corals is diverse (Porter, 1974; Johannes & Tepley, 1974; Johnson & Sebens, 1993; Sebens *et al.*, 1996; Palardy *et al.*, 2005, 2006) and does not seem systematically to reflect prey availability. Porter (1974) found a large percentage of copepods in coelenteron contents of *Montastrea cavernosa* (polyp diameter >10 mm), as did Johnson & Sebens (1993) for the species *Meandrina meandrites* (polyp diameter around 10 mm). On the other hand, despite accounting for at least 61% of individuals in the zooplankton community, no copepods were captured by the investigated corals of a shallow reef at Isla Contadora in the Gulf of Panamá (Palardy *et al.*, 2006). Indeed the two species investigated:

Pocillopora damicornis (1 mm diameter polyps) and Pavona gigantea (3 mm diameter polyps) both fed preferentially on isopods, amphipods, and crab zoeae, (200-400  $\mu$ m length), despite the threefold difference in their polyp size (Palardy et al., 2006). Similarly, Sebens et al. (1996) measured high capture rates for relatively uncommon large prey, concluding that small strong-swimming zooplankton such as copepods (especially *Oithona* sp.) are captured much less readily, even when extremely abundant. Such copepods have avoidance or escape behaviours that make them difficult for corals to capture (Sebens et al., 1996).

Studies of pelagic-benthic coupling in coral reefs have focused on zooplankton rather than phytoplankton. Ingestion of phytoplankton has only been demonstrated for soft corals (Fabricius *et al.*, 1995), but not for scleractinian species.

# (b) Pico- and nanoplankton

Coral gut content examination does not allow estimation of the grazing rates of small and soft-bodied prey such as picoand nanoplankton, because they are rapidly digested. Only a limited number of studies have therefore investigated the ability of scleractinian corals to feed on pico- and nanoplankton (<100 µm) including bacteria, cyanobacteria, flagellates and ciliates (Sorokin, 1973, 1991; Farrant et al., 1987; Ferrier-Pagès et al., 1998; Bak et al., 1998; Houlbrèque et al., 2004b). However, these microbial communities play a key role in marine food webs (Pomeroy, 1974) since they are the main contributors to pelagic planktonic communities in terms of biomass (Stockner & Antia, 1986; Ducklow, 1990; Charpy, 2005) and production (Platt, Rao & Irwin, 1983). In reef waters, concentrations may be as high as  $10^6$ bacteria ml<sup>-1</sup>, 10<sup>4</sup> - 10<sup>5</sup> cyanobacteria ml<sup>-1</sup> and up to 10<sup>4</sup> total flagellates  $ml^{-1}$  (Ducklow, 1990; Sorokin, 1991; Ferrier-Pagès & Gattuso, 1998; Tada et al., 2003). Due to their rapid growth rates, heterotrophic bacterioplankton account for a significant part of the carbon and nitrogen flow to upper trophic levels (Azam et al., 1983).

Sorokin (1973) was one of the first to suggest that corals consume organic phosphorus in the form of planktonic bacteria rather than taking up inorganic phosphorus at the same concentrations. Herndl & Velimirov (1985) found a large bacterial population within the coelenteron of four anthozoan species, suggesting that corals farm and feed on bacteria. This has been confirmed under culture conditions (Farrant et al., 1987; Sorokin, 1991; Ferrier-Pagès et al., 1998). In particular, the importance of pico- and nanoplankton as a nutrient source for scleractinian corals has been highlighted in flume studies (Houlbrèque et al., 2004b), where three different scleractinian species, symbiotic and asymbiotic, with small or large polyps, showed a significant uptake of microorganisms. Among these microorganisms, nanoflagellates seemed to be a major food source in terms of carbon and nitrogen content. For the model species Stylophora pistillata, the ingestion of pico-and nanoplankton was shown to bring three times more nitrogen than dissolved sources (ammonium, nitrate and DFAA) (Fig. 3) (Ferrier, 1991; Hoegh-Guldberg & Williamson, 1999; Grover et al., 2002, 2003). In situ studies showed that pico-nanoplankton as well as phytoplankton were actively removed from waters flowing above reef flats

(Bak et al., 1998; Moriarty et al., 1985; Ayukai, 1995; Gast et al., 1998; Yahel et al., 1998; Genin et al., 2002; Houlbrèque et al., 2006), suggesting a potential role of corals in this ingestion although other potential grazers such as sponges, bivalves, tunicates and soft corals will also be involved (Fabricius et al., 1995; Ribes et al., 2005; Houlbrèque et al., 2006; Ribes & Atkinson, 2007).

For scleractinian corals, the major mechanism involved in the uptake of protozoans, microplankton and other small prey is the production of mucus nets (Muscatine, 1973; Ferrier-Pagès et al., 1998). Many corals feed on fine particles caught in mucus films or strands which are drawn by cilia into the polyp's mouth (Lewis & Price, 1975; Lewis, 1978). Kramarsky-Winter et al. (2006) showed that the surfaces of the large-polyped coral species Favia favus and Fungia granulosa were covered by a layer of aggregate-like microorganisms. The highest density of microorganisms occured in the region of the polyp mouth, suggesting their utilisation by the coral host as a food source. Particle trapping and bacterial colonization may further enhance the value of mucus aggregates as a food source (Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2000; Wild et al., 2004, Huettel, Wild & Gonelli, 2006) for corals. For example, in the reef waters of Heron Island it has been shown that within only 2-3 h, bacterial density in the mucus exceeded that of ambient sea water by four orders of magnitude (Huettel et al., 2006).

## **III. HETEROTROPHIC NUTRIENT INPUTS**

The photosynthates translocated by the zooxanthellae are sometimes considered "junk food" (Falkowski *et al.*, 1984) deficient in nitrogen, phosphorus and amino acids (Battey & Patton, 1987), which are essential nutrients for growth (Falkowski *et al.*, 1984; Rinkevitch, 1989; Davies, 1991). External food supplies are considered to be a major nutritive source of nitrogen, phosphorus (Farrant *et al.*, 1987; Sorokin, 1991; Ayukai, 1995; Sebens *et al.*, 1996), and also carbon for corals (Porter, 1976; Sorokin, 1993; Grottoli *et al.*, 2006).

#### (1) Organic nitrogen input

Ingestion of dissolved and particulate organic matter represents an important source of nitrogen for the symbiotic association (Rees & Allard, 1989; Szmant, Ferrier & Fitzgerald, 1990), especially for deep corals (Muscatine & Kaplan, 1994) or those living in inshore waters (Sammarco et al., 1999). Indeed, the analysis of the stable isotopes of nitrogen ( $\delta^{15}N$ ) in coral tissue revealed a tendency for depletion in  $\delta^{15}$ N in many coral species as depth increases, following the pattern of depletion in  $\hat{\delta}^{15}N$  of the zooplankton prey (Muscatine & Kaplan, 1994). It suggests that deep corals rely mainly on heterotrophy for their acquisition of nutrients. This is not a general rule for surface corals, for which no depletion in  $\delta^{15}N$  was measured (Yamamuro, Kayanne & Minagawa, 1995), except for those living in inshore waters and receiving large amounts of  $\delta^{15}N$ depleted terrestrial particulate and dissolved organic matter (Sammarco et al., 1999).



**Fig. 3.** Daily nitrogen inputs in the scleractinian coral *Stylophora pistillata*. For all following estimations, we took an average of 50 polyps per cm<sup>-2</sup> for this species. *S. pistillata* fed on natural zooplankton (approximately 1500 prey  $l^{-1}$ ) can gain more than 1.8 µg N cm<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> (Ferrier-Pagès *et al.*, 2003). According to Houlbrèque *et al.* (2004b), ingestion of pico- and nanoplankton by this species provides up to 1.4 µg N cm<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>. Dissolved organic nitrogen, at the lowest concentrations found in seawater (approximately 0.2-0.3 µmol  $l^{-1}$ ) contributes 0.5 µg N cm<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> (Grover *et al.*, 2008). So in total, feeding can provide up to 3.7 µg N cm<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> to the colonies of *S. pistillata*, depending on environmental conditions.

Direct uptake of nitrogen from natural particulate matter (PM) was demonstrated experimentally by Mills et al. (2004), using <sup>15</sup>N-labelled PM in the mounding species Siderastrea radians, Montastrea franksi and Diploria strigosa; uptake rates ranged from 0.80 µg Particulate Nitrogen (PN) cm<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> in S. radians to as high as 13 µg PN cm<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> in M. franksi. Houlbrèque *et al.* (2004b) also estimated that the ingestion of small planktonic cells (pico- and nanoplanktonic cells) by Stylophora pistillata can provide up to 1.2 ng N polyp<sup>-1</sup>  $h^{-1}$ (Fig. 3). For this species, it has been calculated that heterotrophic nutrition can provide up to 3.7  $\mu$ g N cm<sup>-2</sup>  $day^{-1}$ . Relatively few studies however have examined nitrogen assimilation efficiencies for the different types of prey ingested by tropical scleractinian corals. Nitrogen assimilation rates of 40-100% and 80-100% have been reported for deposited and fine suspended particulate matter, respectively (Mills, 2000; Mills & Sebens, 2004). Bythell (1988) calculated that particulate feeding is required to satisfy 70% of the nitrogen demand in Acropora palmata and Anthony (1999) estimated stoichiometrically, from carbon assimilation, that suspended particulate matter

could provide up to 33% of the nitrogen required for growth in *Pocillopora damicornis*.

With the exception of Mills et al. (2004), who did not find nitrogen transfer to the symbiotic zooxanthellae, it is now widely established that both partners of the symbiosis benefit from the input of particulate nitrogen. This transfer was, for example, measured in a tropical scleractinian coral, Oculina diffusa, using Artemia salina nauplii labeled with the stable isotope tracer <sup>15</sup>N (Piniak & Lipschultz, 2004). In this study, zooxanthellae were strongly labeled with <sup>15</sup>N approximately 4 h after feeding: an insufficient period for recycling of <sup>15</sup>N to occur (i.e. via host digestion, synthesis into host macromolecules, catabolism, excretion and uptake by zooxanthellae). This rapid appearance of prey nitrogen in zooxanthellae was thought to be due to direct uptake of prey nitrogen digested within the coelenteron, probably as  $NH_4^+$ , rather than following host assimilation. An estimation of nitrogen fluxes in the zooxanthellae, taking into account their growth rates and dissolved inorganic nitrogen input showed that 90% of the nitrogen used by zooxanthellae in Stylophora pistillata is recycled from the host

(Rahav *et al.*, 1989). In the same way, Rodrigues & Grottoli (2006) demonstrated that increases in  $\delta^{15}$ N of zooxanthellae following bleaching were consistent with increases in nitrogen uptake by corals to support zooxanthellae recovery and mitotic cell division. Thus corals can upregulate dissolved inorganic nitrogen acquisition to stimulate zooxanthellae growth when needed.

# (2) Organic phosphorus input

Few studies have focused on phosphorus input by feeding. It is widely known that zooxanthellae contribute to phosphorus acquisition by recycling it from the metabolic waste products of the host (Yonge & Nicholls, 1931). However, by measuring fluxes of dissolved phosphorus into unfed corals, D'Elia (1977) showed that this uptake was low and suggested that hermatypic corals would require some particulate phosphorus, in the form of meso- or micro-zooplankton, to satisfy their requirements for maintenance and growth. This was also suggested by Sorokin (1973), who had demonstrated previously that corals were able to consume organic phosphorus in the form of planktonic bacteria (around 3  $\mu$ g day<sup>-1</sup>).

#### (3) Organic carbon input

It is generally accepted that the symbiotic association between corals and zooxanthellae is fundamental to the development of coral reefs in oligotrophic tropical oceans (Muscatine & Porter, 1977; Davies, 1991, Grottoli & Wellington, 1999; Lesser et al., 2000), because zooxanthellae transfer the major part of their photosynthates (carbohydrate products) to the coral host (Muscatine, 1990). The debate within the literature however concentrates on whether heterotrophy or autotrophy is the major source of carbon (Coles, 1969; Johannes et al., 1970; Goreau et al., 1971; Johannes, 1974; Lewis & Price, 1975; Porter, 1976; Lewis, 1977; Edmunds & Davies, 1986; Sorokin, 1993; Anthony, 1999; Leletkin, 2000; Grottoli et al., 2006). Different estimations concerning heterotrophic carbon supply vary from a non-significant contribution (Johannes et al., 1970; Edmunds & Davies, 1986), through meeting 15-35% of daily metabolic demand (DME) in healthy corals (Porter, 1976; Sorokin, 1993; Grottoli et al., 2006) to up to 100% in bleached corals (Grottoli et al., 2006). It was first suggested that heterotrophic carbon does not represent a significant energy source for corals living in shallow waters but becomes important for corals inhabiting deep or turbid waters or in low-light environments (Falkowski et al., 1984; Bythell, 1988; Muscatine & Weis, 1992; Anthony & Fabricius, 2000; Leletkin, 2000; Anthony & Connolly, 2004; Anthony, 2006). This theory was partially confirmed by Muscatine et al. (1989), who showed that as depth increased, the difference between zooxanthellae and animal tissue  $\delta^{13}$ C increased and the latter approached the  $\delta^{13}$ C of oceanic particulate organic carbon. The fact that coral feeding increases with depth has been demonstrated directly by Palardy et al. (2005) and indirectly using isotope analyses by Grottoli & Wellington (1999).

Other observations however tend to support the idea that heterotrophy can be important at all depths. Based on plankton capture rates, and considering an energy equivalent of 20.8 kJ g<sup>-1</sup> per ingested holoplanktonic copepods (Webber & Roff, 1995), Witting (1999) calculated that zooplankton ingestion represented a non-negligible energy input (from 0.8 to 1.8 J cm<sup>-2</sup>day<sup>-1</sup>) for the growth of two scleractinian corals, Montastrea annularis and Porites furcata. Finally, Grottoli et al. (2006) showed that feeding rates on zooplankton can increase dramatically in bleached corals and can provide corals with up to 100% of their daily metabolic demand (daily animal respiration rate). This was a conservative estimate of the role of heterotrophy in the coral diet as it did not include anything smaller than 50 µm or possible feeding rates during the day for corals with continuous polyp extension. Thus the role of heterotrophy in the coral metabolic budget is probably much higher than current calculations show.

#### (4) Compensation heterotrophy/autotrophy

Photosynthesis processes and prey capture have long been considered as two independent nutritional modes but it has now been demonstrated that they are closely linked. Indeed, each partner of the symbiotic association is able to use nutrients obtained by auto- or heterotrophy (Anthony & Fabricius, 2000).

Several studies have investigated the ability of corals to shift from phototrophy to heterotrophy (Clayton & Lasker, 1982; Anthony, 1999; Anthony & Fabricius, 2000; Piniak, 2002; Palardy *et al.*, 2005; Grottoli *et al.*, 2006; Rodrigues & Grottoli, 2007). Clayton & Lasker (1982) concluded that the quantity of ingested plankton directly depended on photosynthethate availability while Piniak (2002) found symbiotic and asymbiotic forms of the temperate coral *Oculina arbuscula* to have equivalent prey-capture rates, independent of their symbiotic condition and of the energy derived from photosynthesis.

Nevertheless, it is now widely thought that the ability to switch from autotrophic to heterotrophic carbon sources is species-specific. Anthony (1999) and Anthony & Fabricius (2000) revealed that only certain symbiotic coral species show heterotrophic plasticity and demonstrated that the ability to change trophic mode of some coral species is a mechanism for sustaining a positive energy balance in turbid environments. Two zooxanthellate coral species (Goniastrea retiformis and Porites cylindrica) were exposed for two months to shaded and unshaded conditions and a range of suspended particulate matter (SPM) levels. In response to prolonged shading, G. retiformis more than doubled its rate of particle feeding and gained tissue and skeletal mass at all experimental light and SPM levels while for P. cylindrica, carbon loss due to shading was not compensated by particle feeding and resulted in energy deficiency.

Emerging work clearly shows that shifts from photoautotrophy to heterotrophy also occur with depth (Palardy *et al.*, 2005) and bleaching (Grottoli *et al.*, 2006). Grottoli *et al.* (2006) demonstrated that in the absence of zooxanthellae (during bleaching events), *Montipora capitata* colonies increased feeding rates and acquired large quantities of heterotrophic carbon in excess of daily metabolic energy requirements. It has been concluded that species that can significantly increase their heterotrophic input of carbon during bleaching and recovery have a significantly better capacity to maintain and restore energy reserves (as lipids, carbohydrates and proteins) (Grottoli *et al.*, 2006, Rodrigues & Grottoli, 2007) compared to species like *Porites compressa*, which are largely dependent on photosynthetically fixed carbon (Rodrigues & Grottoli, 2007). It is important to note that even healthy *P. compressa* and *P. lobata* meet 20-40% of their daily metabolic demands heterotrophically (Grottoli *et al.*, 2006), meaning that zooplankton represents a non-trivial carbon input.

# IV. EFFECTS OF HETEROTROPHY ON CORAL PHYSIOLOGY

The importance of autotrophy for coral metabolism has been widely studied during the last thirty years (Muscatine & Porter, 1977; Muscatine, 1980; Falkowski et al., 1984; Muscatine et al., 1984; Cook, D'Elia & Muller-Parker, 1988; Davies, 1991; Muller-Parker, Cook & D'Elia, 1994a; Muller-Parker et al., 1994b; Marubini, 1996; Swanson & Hoegh-Guldberg, 1998; Wang & Douglas, 1998; Cook & Davy, 2001; LaJeunesse, 2001). On the contrary, the number of studies which have focused on the effects of feeding on coral metabolism (photosynthesis, respiration, skeletal and tissue growth) is much more limited. Nevertheless, it has been clearly demonstrated that feeding induces significant changes in many physiological parameters and that both host and algal symbionts respond rapidly to changes in food availability (Fitt, 2000; Houlbrèque, Tambutté & Ferrier-Pagès, 2003; Houlbrèque et al., 2004a,b). Fig. 4 summarises these effects of feeding on the main physiological parameters of scleractinian corals. While it is well known that nutrients are continuously exchanged between the two symbiotic partners (Muscatine, 1990), only six studies have focused on the simultaneous effects of heterotrophy on the algal and



Fig. 4. Summary of studies on Scleractinian corals (Dubinsky *et al.*, 1990; Witting, 1999; Titlyanov *et al.*, 2000a,b, 2001; Ferrier-Pagès *et al.*, 2003; Houlbrèque *et al.*, 2003, 2004*a*) showing that feeding induces significant changes in many physiological parameters. Compared to starved corals, fed corals showed: (1) twofold greater protein concentrations and photosynthetic rates per unit skeletal surface area; (2) twofold higher dark and light calcification rates; (3) twofold greater organic matrix synthesis in the dark and a 60% increase in the light.

Biological Reviews 84 (2009) 1-17 © 2008 The Authors Journal compilation © 2008 Cambridge Philosophical Society

animal components (Witting, 1999; Ferrier-Pagès *et al.*, 2003; Houlbrèque *et al.*, 2003, 2004*a*; Rodrigues & Grottoli, 2006, 2007) and the relative importance of phototrophy *versus* heterotrophy remains only partially understood.

#### (1) Effects of heterotrophy on coral tissue

Heterotrophy tends to increase tissue synthesis levels (Jacques & Pilson, 1980; Sebens & Johnson, 1991; Al-Moghrabi, Allemand & Couret, 1995; Kim & Lasker, 1998; Anthony & Fabricius, 2000; Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2003; Houlbrèque et al., 2003, 2004a). Indeed, an increase in protein concentration with feeding has been reported for numerous tropical corals (Clayton & Lasker, 1984; Al-Moghrabi et al., 1995). In laboratory experiments with Stylophora pistillata, Ferrier-Pagès et al. (2003) and Houlbrèque et al. (2003, 2004a) highlighted a two to eightfold increase in protein concentration in fed versus starved corals. This increase (significant after three weeks of feeding) appeared faster than the increase in skeletal growth (significant only after eight weeks) (Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2003; Houlbrèque et al., 2003, 2004a), resulting in thicker tissue over each calyx (Lough & Barnes, 2000) and thus more biomass per polyp. Anthony, Connolly & Willis (2002) suggested that either tissue reacts more rapidly than skeleton to availability of resources, or that tissue energy content represents a major component of the total energy investment in coral growth. Not only protein but also lipid content is increased by feeding in healthy corals (Al-Moghrabi et al., 1995; Treignier et al., 2008). Indeed Al-Moghrabi et al. (1995) found, in the coral Galaxea fascicularis, an increase in the proportion of saturated and mono-saturated fatty acids (C16 and C16:1 n-7) in fed corals maintained in the light, as well as an increase in levels of some polyunsaturated fatty acids in fed corals maintained in the dark, compared to starved corals. They related this increase to feeding on Artemia salina, as they are rich in those compounds. Treignier et al. (2008) found that energy storage in the form of lipid was light dependent. Under low light levels, and therefore a low photosynthate input, feeding increased the concentrations of storage lipids, such as saturated fatty acids, membrane constituents such as polyunsaturated fatty acids, and sterols, either in the host or in the symbionts. Conversely, under high light levels, the lipid energy provided by feeding was directed towards an increase in calcification, as well as in chlorophyll and protein content. At both light levels, however, the isotopic signature of the lipids was affected by feeding, which significantly enriched some fatty acids of the host tissue and of the zooxanthellae in  $^{13}C$ .

Numerous studies have shown enhancement of zooxanthellae concentration (per cm<sup>2</sup> of surface skeleton) in fed corals (Muscatine *et al.*, 1989; Dubinsky *et al.*, 1990; Titlyanov *et al.*, 2000*a,b*, 2001; Houlbrèque *et al.*, 2003, 2004*a*) (Fig. 5). In Houlbrèque *et al.* (2003), colonies of *Stylophora pistillata* fed with freshly collected zooplankton and submitted to low light levels (< 200 µmoles photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) underwent a doubling of zooxanthellae concentration compared to starved corals. The evidence of an interaction between light and feeding for the algal population is



**Fig. 5.** (A) Starved and (B) fed colonies of *Stylophora pistillata* showing the difference in tissue pigmentation due to a simultaneous increase in zooxanthellae density and chlorophyll concentration per algal cell in fed corals (Grottoli, 2002; Titlyanov *et al.*, 2000*a*,*b*, 2001).

consistent with other reports (Titlyanov et al., 2000a; 2001) where it was concluded that the zooxanthellae density of well-fed corals was able to increase under low light levels. This increase matched an increase in the cell-specific density (CSD), which represents the number of zooxanthellae contained in each individual host cell. Most corals (Muscatine et al., 1998) are characterized by a predominance of host cells containing a single dinoflagellate (singlet, 62.3 -70.4% of the total cells) followed in decreasing frequency by those containing two (doublet; 28.3% to 34.3%), three (triplet; 0.7% to 3.0%) and above four symbionts (quadruplet; 0.4 to 0.7%). In fed corals, the number of doublets and triplets was significantly increased compared to starved corals (Houlbrèque et al., 2004a). It therefore appears that feeding disproportionally enhances the growth of the algae relative to the animal cells. A similar increase in CSD was observed in an environment enriched with inorganic nitrogen (Muscatine et al., 1998) and Artemia salina (Grottoli, 2002), suggesting that the algae are nitrogen limited. When collected in situ in the same environment, different coral species do not display the same CSD, which ranged from approximately 50% for doublets in Madracis mirabilis to 20% for doublets in Acropora palmata (Muscatine et al., 1998). This may suggest different feeding capacities for different species, with "effective" predator, such as M. mirabilis (Sebens et al., 1996), displaying a higher CSD than "poor" predators.

Concentrations of chlorophyll a and  $c_2$  per square centimetre are often higher in fed *versus* starved corals (Dubinsky *et al.*, 1990; Stambler *et al.*, 1991; Titlyanov *et al.*, 1999; Ferrier-Pagès *et al.*, 2003; Houlbrèque *et al.*, 2003), either due to an increase in zooxanthellae density as described above or to an increase in the amount of chlorophyll content per algal cell (Titlyanov *et al.*, 2000*a,b*, 2001; Ferrier-Pagès *et al.*, 2003; Houlbrèque *et al.*, 2003).

The simultaneous increase in the concentration of protein, lipids and chlorophyll in fed coral colonies suggests that nutrients, incorporated in particulate form, were used both by the host and the symbionts (Clayton & Lasker, 1984; D'Elia & Cook, 1988; Cook *et al.*, 1988). The same effect on zooxanthellae was achieved when sea water was enriched with dissolved inorganic nitrogen such as nitrate

and ammonium (Hoegh-Guldberg & Smith, 1989; Dubinsky & Stambler, 1996; Marubini & Davies, 1996).

#### (2) Effects of heterotrophy on photosynthesis

At elevated feeding rates, enhanced rates of photosynthesis normalized per unit surface area are recorded, due to the simultaneous increases in zooxanthellae density and the amount of chlorophyll per zooxanthellae (Dubinsky *et al.*, 1990; Titlyanov *et al.*, 2000*a*,*b*, 2001; Houlbrèque *et al.*, 2003, 2004*a*). For *S. pistillata*, changes in photosynthetic parameters such as maximal net photosynthetic rate ( $P^n_{max}$ ) and talling index (the light intensity for which maximal photosynthesis is reached;  $I_k$ ) have been observed (Titlyanov *et al.*, 2001; Houlbrèque *et al.*, 2004*a*). The increase in  $P^n_{max}$ generally corresponds to an increase in the number of photosynthetic units (Prézelin, 1987).

This feeding enhancement of photosynthesis does not always correspond to higher transfer of photosynthates if the algae retain the surplus for their own requirements (Davy & Cook, 2001), but may be related to better quality of photosynthates transferred (Swanson & Hoegh-Guldberg, 1998; Wang & Douglas, 1998). Since the supply of nitrogen directly influences the zooxanthellar C:N ratio (Snidvongs & Kinzie, 1994; Grover *et al.*, 2002), feeding might increase amino acid synthesis compared to the production of nonnitrogenous compounds such as glycerol and glucose (Swanson & Hoegh-Guldberg, 1998; Wang & Douglas, 1998).

# (3) Effects of heterotrophy on skeletal growth

Heterotrophy plays a significant role in coral skeletal growth, because scleractinian corals allocate a high proportion of the energy brought by food to it. Coral growth can be measured in several ways: linear extension rate, global skeletal growth (determined by following the weight of the coral colony using, for example, the buoyant weight technique) and calcification rate (measured using the alkalinity technique or by  $^{45}$ Ca incorporation). Wellington (1982) was one of the first to use field

manipulations of light and zooplankton levels to assess the effect of feeding on the growth rates of three tropical corals: Pavona clavus, Pavona gigantea and Pocillopora damicornis. Among these three species, only Pavona clavus minimized the negative effect of shading when zooplankton were present. Pocillopora damicornis grew independent of zooplankton supply while Pavona gigantea appeared highly dependent on both light and zooplankton levels but was unable to compensate for the effects of shading with zooplankton feeding. In laboratory conditions, a feeding-induced increase in the global skeletal growth rate was demonstrated for some scleractinian corals maintained under shaded conditions (Anthony & Fabricius, 2000). Five other laboratory studies investigated the effects of natural zooplankton feeding on both skeletal and tissue growth rates of tropical corals (Witting, 1999; Grottoli, 2002; Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2003; Houlbrèque et al., 2003, 2004a) of which only Grottoli (2002) reported decreases in skeletal extension rates with increases in feeding. However in this case feeding rates were stimulated with plankton concentrations that were 5-60 times greater than that measured on the reef and it was hypothesized that at very high feeding rates, unregulated high levels of nutrients over-stimulated zooxanthellae growth and decoupled the coral-algal symbiosis. Conversely, Ferrier-Pagès *et al.* (2003) recorded for the species *Stylophora pistillata*, global skeletal growth rates 30% higher in fed colonies than in starved ones. In this study, fed corals grown under low-light conditions were able to maintain their growth rates, while the growth rates of starved corals dramatically decreased during the incubation. Using the same species, Houlbrèque *et al.* (2003) showed that calcification rates in both dark and light conditions were greatly enhanced by feeding, with rates two to three times higher in fed than in control corals.

Several explanations can be considered to explain this skeletal enhancement.

- (i) Calcification results from the delivery of calcium and inorganic carbon to the site of calcification with removal of protons. Calcium is acquired from sea water and delivered to the site of calcification through the calicoblastic epithelium via transcellular active transport (McConnaughey, 1988, 1989; Tambutté et al., 1996; Marshall, 1996). Dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC) is acquired from two different sources: sea water DIC, transported as bicarbonate across the calicoblastic cells (Gattuso, Allemand & Frankignoulle, 1999; Marubini & Thake, 1999) and respired CO<sub>2</sub> (Erez, 1978; Furla, Allemand & Orsenigo, 2000). According to the different studies already cited (Al-Moghrabi et al., 1995, Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2003; Houlbrèque et al., 2003, 2004a), feeding clearly resulted in increased tissue growth and tissue thickening, with a proportional increase in the zooxanthellae density expressed per unit surface area. The addition of coral biomass could therefore stimulate calcification by increasing the supply of external DIC, via an increased number of transporting molecules or by increasing the internal DIC via an increase in respiration rate. These rates are indeed often higher in fed corals (Houlbrèque et al., 2003). Heterotrophy could therefore stimulate calcification through tissue growth and supply of metabolic inorganic carbon (Furla et al., 2000). Barnes (1973) was one of the first to underscore the essential relationship between tissue and skeletal growth, and Barnes & Lough (1993) suggested that such tissue thickening might serve as a storage strategy when prey are available. At a later time, skeletal growth may continue at a high rate combined with thinning of the tissue.
- (ii) Feeding could enhance calcification indirectly by increasing the photosynthetic rate. Photosynthesis increases the supply of Ca<sup>2+</sup> needed for calcification by increasing the ATP production needed for proton pump, which in turns favors carbonate precipitation (McConnaughey, 1989).
- (iii) Skeletal growth in corals involves at least two different processes: the secretion of an organic matrix and the deposition of calcium carbonate (Barnes & Crossland, 1980). At night, the coral lays down an organic matrix that allows the deposition of a CaCO<sub>3</sub> crystalline framework (Vago, Gill & Collingwood, 1997). This

process is followed the next day by the nucleation of new crystals, resulting in increased skeletal density. The presence of an organic matrix in coral skeletons is widely documented (Goreau & Goreau, 1959; Wainwright, 1963; Young, 1971; Constantz & Weiner, 1988; Cuif & Gautret, 1995; Dauphin & Cuif, 1997) and is considered as an essential prerequisite in the formation of a biomineral structure (Goreau & Goreau, 1959; Cuif, Dauphin & Gautret, 1997; Allemand et al., 1998). This matrix potentially plays key roles in various processes such as crystal nucleation and growth, crystal size and orientation and regulation of skeletal formation (Weiner & Addadi, 1991; Falini et al., 1996; Belcher et al., 1996). Cuif et al. (1999) demonstrated that the composition of the organic matrix differed depending on whether it was synthesized by symbiotic or asymbiotic corals and Allemand et al. (1998) suggested that heterotrophy was a source of aspartic acid, one of the major components of the coral matrix.

Higher incorporation of aspartic acid, one of the major amino acids in the organic matrix of scleractinian corals (Allemand *et al.*, 1998), was observed in the organic matrix of fed corals (Houlbrèque *et al.*, 2004*a*). Feeding enhanced both dark and light incorporation rates, with greater enhancement in the dark. The authors considered several hypotheses to explain this feeding enhancement (Fig. 6). Feeding might enhance the construction of the organic matrix by (1) providing external amino acids necessary for the construction of the organic matrix; (2) supplying additional energy, especially for processes such as for the  $Ca^{2+}/H^+$  pump, which quantity is increased through high tissue biomass above the skeleton (McConnaughey, 1988, 1989; McConnaughey & Whelan, 1997; Anthony *et al.*, 2002); or (3) increasing the production of autotrophic amino acids by increasing photosynthesis rate.

# V. CONCLUSIONS

(1) The establishment and maintenance of scleractinian corals in nutrient-poor conditions was previously explained solely by their symbiosis with zooxanthellae, which translocate a large fraction of their photosynthates to the host but it is now known that corals have adaptable and varied trophic abilities. Even with a variable zooplankton input in coral reefs, planktonic microorganisms available in reef waters can represent an important source of nitrogen and carbon for scleractinian corals. Therefore, the ability of corals to consume microorganisms is suggested to be one of the major mechanisms sustaining reefs in impoverished environments.

(2) Recent studies on coral physiology demonstrate that corals benefit greatly from zooplankton feeding. Several studies have shown enhancement of the areal pigmentation and zooxanthellae density in fed corals, allowing an increase in areal photosynthesis. Coral calcification and organic matrix synthesis are also greatly enhanced by feeding.

(3) This nutrition mode may be advantageous during episodes of stress since some coral species are able to increase their feeding rates during bleaching events and recovery periods, allowing them greater long-term resilience and therefore to dominate the species composition of the reef.



**Fig. 6.** Hypotheses suggested to explain the closely coupled stimulation of calcification and organic matrix synthesis following zooplankton ingestion in scleractinian corals. Feeding might act directly by providing external amino acids (AA) necessary for organic matrix synthesis or by supplying additional energy for the  $Ca^{2+}/H^+$  pump and protein synthesis. Another possibility is that feeding might act indirectly by increasing photosynthesis rate, which in turn might increase the supply of autotrophic amino acids or the energy input.

(4) Coral energy acquisition and the relative importance of hetero- versus autotrophy in corals is still hotly debated in the literature. However, rather than being viewed as either autotrophic or heterotrophic, scleractinian corals should probably be considered polytrophic, using both ingested and translocated carbon as energy sources. An emerging model is that the dependence of corals on heterotrophic nutrition varies with species, depth, plankton abundance, and bleaching. Considerable work still needs to be done in this research area. The establishment of an accurate carbon balance that quantifies the amount of carbon transferred by the zooxanthellae versus the amount supplied by heterotrophy (taking into account the absorption of dissolved organic matter and the predation of small planktonic prey) at the scale of a single scleractinian coral colony would be of great interest to biologists.

# VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by a grant from the Centre Scientifique de Monaco and by a Lavoisier Fellowship from the French Ministry of Foreign Affairs. We wish to thank especially Prof. Denis Allemand and Dr Éric Tambutté with whom we have discussed the ideas presented here. We also wish to thank Dr. Jean-Pierre Gattuso for having encouraged us to write this review, and Prof. Rob Dunbar for his support. We also wish to thank Dr Didier Zoccola and Dr Riccardo Rodolfo-Metalpa for their precious advice. We are grateful to Dr Brendan Roark for linguistic improvements. We wish to thank two anonymous reviewers for providing constructive and helpful comments.

#### **VII. REFERENCES**

- ABE, N. (1938). Feeding behaviour and the nematocyst of Fungia and 15 other species of corals. *Palao Tropical and Biological Studies* 1, 469–521.
- AL-MOGHRABI, S., ALLEMAND, D. & COURET, J. M. (1995). Fatty acid of the scleractinian coral *Galaxea fascicularis* : effect of light and feeding. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 165, 183–192.
- AL-MOGHRABI, S., ALLEMAND, D. & JAUBERT, J. (1993). Valine upgrade by the scleractinian coral *Galaxea fascicularis* characterization and effect of light and nutritional status. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 163, 355–362.
- ALLDREDGE, A. L. & KING, J. M. (1977). Distribution, abundance and substrate preference of demersal reef zooplankton at Lizard Island Lagoon, Great Barrier Reef. *Marine Biology* 41, 317–333.
- ALLEMAND, D., TAMBUTTÉ, E., GIRARD, J. P. & JAUBERT, J. (1998). Organic matrix synthesis in the scleractinian coral *Stylophora pistillata*: role in biomineralization and potential target of the organotin tribulyltin. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **201**, 2001–2009.
- ANTHONY, K. R. N. & FABRICIUS, K. E. (2000). Shifting roles of heterotrophy and autotrophy in coral energetics under varying turbidity. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 252, 221–253.
- ANTHONY, K. R. N. (2000). Enhanced particle-feeding capacity of corals. Coral Reefs 19, 59–67.

- ANTHONY, K. R. N. (2006). Enhanced energy status of corals on coastal, high-turbidity reefs. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. 319, 111–116.
- ANTHONY, K. R. N. & CONNOLLY, S. R. (2004). Environmental limits to growth: physiological niche boundaries of corals along turbidity-light gradients. *Oecologia* 141(3), 373–384.
- ANTHONY, K. R. N., CONNOLLY, S. R. & WILLIS, B. L. (2002). Comparative analysis of energy allocation to tissue and skeletal growth in corals. *Limnology & Oceanography* 47, 1417–1429.
- ANTHONY, K. (1999). Coral suspension feeding on fine particulate matter. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 232, 85–106.
- AYUKAI, T. (1995). Retention of phytoplancton and planctonic microbes on coral reefs within the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. *Coral Reefs* **14**, 141–147.
- AZAM, F., FENCHEL, T., FIELD, J. G., GRAY, J. S., MEYER-REIL, L. A. & THINGSTAD, F. (1983). The ecological role of water column microbes in the sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **10**, 257–263.
- BAK, R. P. M., JOENJE, M., DEJONG, I., LAMBRECHTS, D. Y. M. & NEWLAND, G. (1998). Bacterial suspension feeding by coral reef benthic organisms. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 175, 285–288.
- BARNES, D. J. (1973). Growth in colonial scleractinians. Bulletin of Marine Science 23, 280–298.
- BARNES, D. J. & CROSSLAND, C. J. (1980). Diurnal and Seasonal Variations in the Growth of a Staghorn Coral Measured by Time-Lapse Photography. *Limnology & Oceanography* 25(6), 1113–1117.
- BARNES, D. J. & LOUGH, J. M. (1993). On the nature and causes of density banding in massive coral skeletons. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **167(1)**, 91–108.
- BATTEY, J. F. & PATTON, J. S. (1987). Glycerol translocation in Condylactis gigantea. Marine Biology. 95(1), 37–46.
- BELCHER, A. M., WUX, X. H., CHRISTENSEN, R. J., HANSMA, P. K., STUCKY, G. D. & MORSE, D. E. (1996). Control of crystal phase switching and orientation by soluble mollusc shell proteins. *Nature* 381, 56–58
- BERMAN, T. & BRONK, D. A. (2003). Dissolved organic nitrogen: a dynamic participant in aquatic ecosystems. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology* **31(3)**, 279–305.
- BRONK, D. A. (2002). Dynamics of DON. In: Biogeochemistry of Marine Dissolved Organic Matter (eds. D. A. HANSELL and C. A. Carlson), pp. 153–247. Academic Press.
- BYTHELL, J. C. (1988). A total nitrogen and carbon budget for the elkhorn coral Acropora palmata (Lamarck). Proceedings of 6<sup>th</sup> International Coral Reef Symposium 2, 535–540.
- CARLETON, J. H., BRINKMAN, R. & DOHERTY P. J. (2001). Zooplankton community structure and water flow in the lee of Helix Reef (Great Barrier Reef, Australia) *Marine Biology* **139**, 705–717.
- CARLETON, J. H. & HAMNER, W. M. (2007) The hyperbenthic plankton community composition, distribution and abundance in a coral reef lagoon. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 336, 77–88.
- CHARPY, L. (2005). Importance of photosynthetic picoplankton in coral reef ecosystems. *Vie et Milieu*. **55(3-4)**, 217–223.
- CLAYTON, W.S. Jr. & LASKER, K. E. (1982). Effects of light and dark treatments of feeding by the reef coral *Pocillopora damicornis*. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Ecology* 63, 269–280.
- CLAYTON, W. S., Jr. & LASKER, K. E. (1984). Host feeding regime and zooxanthellae photosynthesis in the anemone, *Aiptasia pallida* (Verrill). *Biological Bulletin* 16, 590–600.
- COLES, S. L. (1969). Quantitative estimate of feeding and respiration of three corals. *Limnology & Oceanography* 14, 949–953.
- CONSTANTZ, B. R. & WEINER, S. (1988). Acidic macromolecules associated with the mineral phase of scleractinian coral skeletons. *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 248, 253–258.

- COOK, C. B., DAVY, S. K. (2001). Are free amino acids responsible for the "host factor" effects on symbiotic zooxanthellae in extracts of host tissue? *Hydrobiologia* **461(1-3)**, 71–78.
- COOK, C. B., D'ELIA, C. F. & MULLER-PARKER, G. (1988). Host feeding and nutrient sufficiency for zooxanthellae in the sea anemone *Aiptasia pallida*. *Marine Biology* **98**, 253–262.
- CUIE, J. P., DAUPHIN, Y., FREIWALD, A., GAUTRET, P. & ZIBROWIUS, H. (1999). Biochemical markers of zooxanthellae symbiosis in soluble matrices of skeleton 24 Scleractinia species. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* **123A**, 269–278
- CUIF, J. P., DAUPHIN, Y. & GAUTRET, P. (1997). Biomineralization features in scleractinian coral skeletons source of new taxonomic criteria. *Boletín de la Real Sociedad Española de Historia Natural Sección Geologica* 92, 129–141.
- CUIE, J. P. & GAUTRET, P. (1995). Glucides et protéines de la matrice soluble des biocristaux de scléractiniaires Acroporidés. *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences Paris II* 320, 273–278.
- DAUPHIN, Y. & CUIF, J. P. (1997). Isoelectric properties of the soluble matrices in relation to the chemical composition of some scleractinian skeletons. *Electrophoresis* 18, 1180–1183.
- DAVIES, P. S. (1991). Effect of daylight variations on the energy budgets of shallow water corals. *Marine Biology* 108, 137–144.
- DAVY, S. K. & COOK, C. B. (2001) The relationship between nutritional status and carbon flux in the zooxanthellate sea anemones *Aiptasia pallida*. *Marine Biology* **119**, 999–105.
- D'ELIA, C. F. (1977). The uptake and release of dissolved phosphorus by reef corals. *Limnology & Oceanography* 22, 301–315.
- D'ELIA, C. F. & COOK, C. B. (1988). Methylamine uptake by zooxanthellae-invertebrate symbioses: insights into host ammonium environment and nutrition. *Limnology & Oceanography* 33(5), 1153–1165.
- DISALVO, L. H. (1992). Bacterial counts in surface open waters of Eniwetok Atoll, Marshall Islands. *Atoll Research Bulletin* 151, 1–5.
- DUBINSKY, Z. & STAMBLER, N. (1996). Marine pollution and coral reefs. *Global Change Biology* 2(6), 511–526.
- DUBINSKY, Z., STAMBLER, N., BEN-ZION, M., MCCLOSKEY, L. R., MUSCATINE, L. & FALKOWSKI, P. G. (1990). The effect of external nutrient resources on the optical properties and photosynthetic efficiency of *Stylophora pistillata*. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B* 239, 231–246.
- DUCKLOW, H. W. (1990). The biomass, production and fate of bacteria in coral reefs. In *Ecosystems of the world. Coral Reefs* (eds. Z. DUBINSKY). Elsevier, Amsterdam. 25, 265–289.
- ECHELMAN, T. & FISHELSON, L. (1990). Surface zooplankton dynamics and community structure in the Gulf of Aqaba (Eilat), Red Sea. *Marine Biology* **107**, 179–190.
- EDMUNDS, P. J. & DAVIES, P. S. (1986). An energy budget for *Porites porites* (Scleractinian). *Marine Biology* **92**, 339–347.
- EREZ, J. (1978). Vital effect on stable-isotope composition seen foraminifera and coral skeletons. *Nature* 273, 199–202.
- FABRICIUS, K. E. & METZNER, J. (2004). Scleractinian walls of mouths: Predation on coral larvae by corals. *Coral Reefs* **23**(2), 245–248.
- FABRICIUS, K. E., YAHEL, G. & GENIN, A. (1995). Herbivory in asymbiotic soft corals. *Science* 268, 90–93.
- FALINI, G., ALBECK, S., WEINER, S. & ADDADI, L. (1996). Control of aragonite or calcite polymorphism by mollusk shell macromolecules. *Science* 271, 67–69.
- FALKOWSKI, P. G., DUBINSKY, Z., MUSCATINE, L. & PORTER, J. W. (1984). Light and bioenergetics of a symbiotic coral. *Bioscience* 11, 705–709.
- FARRANT, P. A., BOROWITZKA, M. A., HINDE, R. & KING, R. J. (1987). Nutrition of the temperate Australian coral *Capnella* gaboensis. Marine Biology 95, 575–581.

- FERRIER, M. D. (1991). Net uptake of dissolved free amino acids by four scleractinian corals. *Coral Reefs* **10**, 183–187.
- FERRIER-PAGÉS, C. & GATTUSO, J. P. (1998). Biomass, production and grazing rates of pico and nanoplankton in coral reef waters (Miyako Island, Japan). *Microbial Ecology* 35, 48–57.
- FERRIER-PAGÈS, C., GATTUSO, J. P., CAWET, G., JAUBERT, J. & ALLEMAND, D. (1998). Release of dissolved organic carbon and nitrogen by the zooxanthellate coral *Galaxea fascicularis*. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **172**, 265–274.
- FERRIER-PAGÈS, C., LECLERCQ, N., JAUBERT, J. & PELEGRI, S. P. (2000). Enhancement of pico- and nanoplankton growth by coral exudates. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology* 21(2), 203–209.
- FERRIER-PAGÉS, C., WITTING, J., TAMBUTTÉ, E. & SEBENS, K. P. (2003). Effect of natural zooplankton feeding on the tissue and skeletal growth of the scleractinian coral *Stylophora pistillata. Coral Reefs* 22, 229–240.
- FITT, W. K. (2000). Cellular growth of host and symbiont in a cnidarian-zooxanthellar symbiosis. *Biological Bulletin Marine Biological Laboratory, Woods Hole* **198**(1), 110–120.
- FURLA, P., ALLEMAND, D. & ORSENIGO, M. N. (2000). Involvement of H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase and carbonic anhydrase in inorganic carbon uptake for endosymbiont photosynthesis. *American Journal of Physiology* 278, 870–881.
- FURLA, P., ALLEMAND, D., SHICK, J. M., FERRIER-PAGÈS, C., RICHIER, S., PLANTIVAUX, A., MERLE, P. L., TAMBUTTÉ, S. (2005). The Symbiotic Anthozoan: A Physiological Chimera between Alga and Animal. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* **45**(4), 595–604.
- GAST, G. J., WIEGMAN, S., WIERINGA, E., VAN DUYL, F. C. & BAK, R. P. M. (1998). Bacteria in coral reef water types : removal of cells, stimulation of growth and mineralization. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 167, 37–45.
- GATTUSO, J. P., ALLEMAND, D. & FRANKIGNOULLE, M. (1999). Photosynthesis and calcification at cellular, organismal and community levels in coral reefs: A review of interactions and control by carbonate chemistry. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*: 39(1), 160–183.
- GENIN, A., YAHEL G., REIDENBACH M. A., MONISMITH, S. G. & KOSEFF J. R. (2002). Intense benthic grazing on phytoplankton in coral reefs revealed using the control volume approach. *Oceanography* 15, 90–96.
- GLYNN, P. W. (1973). Ecology of a Caribbean Coral Reef Porites Reef-Flat biotope.2. Plankton community with evidence for depletion. *Marine Biology* 22(1), 1–21.
- GOREAU, T. F. (1961). Comment in H.M. Lenhoff, activation of the feeding reflex in *Hydra littoralis*. Pages 230–231 in H. M. Lenhoff and W. F. Loomis, Eds., The Biology of Hydra. University of Miami Press, Miami.
- GOREAU, T. F. & GOREAU, N. I. (1959). The physiology of skeleton formation in corals. II. Calcium deposition by hermatypic corals under different conditions. Biological Bulletin 117, 239–250.
- GOREAU, T. F. & GOREAU, N. I. (1960). Distribution of labeled carbon in reef-building corals with and without zooxanthellae. *Science* **131**, 668–669.
- GOREAU, T. F., GOREAU, N. I., YONGE, C. M. (1971). Reef corals: Autotrophs or Heterotrophs? *Biological Bulletin* 141(2), 247–260.
- GROTTOLI, A. G. (2002). Effect of light and brine shrimp on skeletal delta C-13 in the Hawaiian coral *Porites compressa*: A tank experiment. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 66(11), 1955–1967.
- GROTTOLI, A., RODRIGUES, L. & PALARDY, J. (2006). Heterotrophic plasticity and resilience in bleached corals. *Nature* 440, 1186–1189.

- GROTTOLI, A. G. & WELLINGTON, G. M. (1999). Effect of light and zooplankton on delta C-13 values in the eastern Pacific corals *Pavona clavus* and *Pavona gigantea*. Coral Reefs 18(1), 29–41.
- GROVER, R., MAGUER, J. F., ALLEMAND, D. & FERRIER-PAGÈS, C. (2003). Nitrate uptake in the Scleractinian coral Stylophora pistillata. Limnology & Oceanography 48(6), 2266–2274.
- GROVER, R., MAGUER J. F., ALLEMAND, D. & FERRIER-PAGES, C. (2006). Urea uptake by the Scleractinian coral Stylophora pistillata. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology* **332**, 216–225.
- GROVER R., MAGUER J. F., ALLEMAND D.. & FERRIER-PAGÈS C.. (2008). Uptake of dissolved free amino acids (DFAA) by the scleractinian coral *Stylophora pistillata*. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **211**, 860–865.
- GROVER, R., MAGUER, J. F., REYNAUD-VAGANAY, S. & FERRIER-PAGÈS, C. (2002). Uptake of ammonium by the Scleractinian coral *Stylophora pistillata*: effect of feeding, light and ammonium concentrations. *Limnology & Oceanography* **47**, 782–790.
- HAMNER, W. M., COLIN, P. L., HAMNER, P. P. (2007) Export-Import dynamics of zooplankton on a coral reef in Palau. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 334, 83–92.
- HAMNER, W. M., JONES, M. S., CARLETON, J. H., HAURI, I. R. & MCB WILLIAMS, D. (1988). Zooplankton, planktivorous fish, and water currents on a windward reef face: Great Barrier Reef, Australia. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 42, 459–478.
- HEIDELBERG, K. B., SEBENS, K. P. & PURCELL, J. E. (2004). Composition and sources of near reef zooplankton on a Jamaican reef along with implications for coral feeding. *Coral Reefs* 23(2), 263–276.
- HELMUTH, B. & SEBENS, K. (1993). The influence of colony morphology and orientation to flow on particle capture by the scleractinian coral Astrangia agarices (Linnaeus). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 165, 251–278.
- HERNDL, G. J. & VELIMIROV, B. (1985). Bacteria in the cœlenteron of Anthozoa : control of cœlenteric bacterial density by the cœlenteric fluid. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **93**, 115–130.
- HOEGH-GULDBERG, O. & SMITH, G. J. (1989). Influence of the population density of zooxanthellae and supply of ammonium on the biomass and metabolic caracteristics of the reef corals *Seriatopora hystrix* and *Stylophora pistillata*. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 57, 173–186.
- HOEGH-GULDBERG, O. & WILLIAMSON, J. (1999). Availability of two form of dissolved nitrogen to the coral *Pocillopora damicornis* and its symbiotic zooxanthellae. *Marine Biology* 133, 561–570.
- HOULBRÈQUE, F., DELESALLE, B., BLANCHOT, J., MONTEL, Y. & FERRIER-PAGÈS, C. (2006). Picoplankton removal by the coral reef community of La Prévoyante, Mayotte Island. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology* **44**, 59–70.
- HOULBRÈQUE, F., TAMBUTTÉ, E., ALLEMAND, D. & FERRIER-PAGÈS, C. (2004a). Interactions between zooplankton feeding, photosynthesis and skeletal growth in the Scleractinian coral *Stylophora pistillata*. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **207**, 1461–1469.
- HOULBRÈQUE, F., TAMBUTTÉ, E. & FERRIER-PAGÈS, C. (2003). Effects of zooplankton availability on the rates of photosynthesis, and tissue and skeletal growth in the Scleractinian coral *Stylophora pistillata. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 296, 145–166.
- HOULBRÈQUE, F., TAMBUTTÉ, E., RICHARD, C. & FERRIER-PAGÈS, C. (2004b). Importance of a micro-diet for Scleractinian corals. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 282, 151–160.
- HUETTEL, M., WILD, C. & GONELLI, S. (2006). Mucus trap in coral reefs: formation and temporal evolution of particle aggregates caused by coral mucus. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **307**, 69–84.

- JACQUES, T. G. & PILSON, M. E. Q. (1980). Experimental ecology of the temperate Scleractinian coral Astrangia danae. I- Partition of respiration, photosynthesis and calcification between host and symbionts. Marine Biology 60, 167–178.
- JOHANNES, R. E. (1974). Sources of nutritional energy for reef corals. Proceedings of 2<sup>nd</sup> International Coral Reef Symposium, Brisbane 1, 133–137.
- JOHANNES, R. E, COLE, S. L. & KUENZEL, N. T. (1970). The role of zooplankton in the nutrition of some scleractinian corals. *Limnology & Oceanography* 15, 579–586.
- JOHANNES, R. E. & TEPLEY, L. (1974). Examination of feeding on the reef coral Porites lobata in situ using time lapse photography. Proceedings of 2<sup>nd</sup> International Coral Reef Symposium, Brisbane 1, 127–131.
- JOHNSON, A. S. & SEBENS, K. P. (1993). Consequences of flattened morphology: Effects of flow on feeding rates of the scleractinian coral *Meandrina meandrites*. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* (1–2), 99–104.
- KIM, K. & LASKER, H. R. (1998). Allometry of resource capture in colonial cnidarians and constraints on modular growth. *Functional Ecology* **12**, 646–654.
- KRAMARSKY-WINTER, E., HAREL, M., SIBONI, N., BEN DOV, E., BRICKNER, I., LOYA, Y. & KUSHMARO, A. (2006). Identification of a protist-coral association and its possible ecological role. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **317**, 67–73.
- LAJEUNESSE, T. C. (2001). Investigating the biodiversity, ecology and phylogeny of endosymbiotic dinoflagellates in the genus *Symbiodinium* using the ITS region: in search of a "species" level marker. *Journal of Phycology* **37**, 866–880.
- LEHMAN, J. T. & PORTER, J. W. (1973). Chemical activation of feeding in the Caribbean reef-building coral *Montastrea cavernosa*. *Biological Bulletin* 145, 140–149.
- LELETKIN, V. A. (2000). The energy budget of coral polyps. *Russian Journal of Marine Biology* **26**(6), 389–398
- LESSER, M. P., MAZEL, C., PHINNEY, D. & YENTSCH, C. S. (2000). Light absorption and utilization by colonies of the congeneric hermatypic corals, *Montastrea faveolata* and *Montastrea cavernosa*. *Limnology & Oceanography* **45**(1), 76–86.
- LEWIS, J. B. (1976). Experimental tests of suspension feeding in Atlantic reef corals. *Marine Biology* **36**, 147–150.
- LEWIS, J. B. (1977). Processes of organic production on coral reefs. *Biological Reviews* 52, 305–347.
- LEWIS, J. B. (1978). Feeding mechanisms in Black corals (Antipatharia). Journal of Zoology 186, 393–396.
- LEWIS, J. B. & BOERS, J. J. (1991) Patchiness and composition of coral reef demersal zooplankton. *Journal of Plankton Research* 13, 1273–1289.
- LEWIS, J. B. & PRICE, W. S. (1975). Feeding mechanisms and feeding strategies of Atlantic reef corals. *Journal of Zoology* **176**, 527–544.
- LOPEZ, G. R. & LEVINTON, J. S. (1987). Ecology of deposit-feeding animals in marine-sediments. *Quaterly Review of Biology* 62(3), 235–260.
- LOUGH, J. M. & BARNES, D. J. (2000). Environmental Controls on growth of the massive coral Porites. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 245(2), 225–243.
- MAGUER, J. F., LECORRE, P. & MADEC, C. (1996). Seasonal variations in nitrogen uptake in shallow well-mixed waters (western English Channel) *Oceanologica Acta* **19**, 529–537.
- MARISCAL, R. N. & LENHOFF, H. M. (1968). The chemical control of feeding behavior in *Cyphastrea ocellina* and in some other Hawaiian corals. *Journal of Experimental Biology*. **49**, 689–699.
- MARSHALL, A. T. (1996). Calcification in hermatypic coral and ahermatypic corals. *Science* 271, 637–639.
- MARUBINI, F. (1996). The physiological response of hermatypic corals to nutrient enrochement. PhD Thesis, Glasgow, United Kingdom.

- MARUBINI, F. & DAVIES P. S. (1996). Nitrate increases zooxanthellae population density and reduces skeletogenesis in corals. *Marine Biology* 127(2), 319–328.
- MARUBINI, F. & THAKE, B. (1999). Bicarbonate addition promotes coral growth. *Limnology & Oceanography* **44(3)**, 716–720.
- MCCONNAUGHEY, T. A. (1988). Biomineralization mechanisms. In the Origin. Evolution, and Modern Aspects of Biomineralization in Animals and Plants (ed. F. C. Crick). Elsevier.
- MCCONNAUGHEY, T. A. (1989). <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>18</sup>O isotopic disequilibrium in biological carbonates: II. *In vitro* stimulation of kinetic isotope effects. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*. **53**, 163–171.
- McCONNAUGHEY, T. A. & WHELAN, F. F. (1997). Calcification generates protons for nutrient an bicarbonate uptake. *Earth-Science Reviews* **42**, 92–117.
- MCWILLIAM, P. S., SALE, P. F. & ANDERSON, D. T. (1981). Seasonal changes in resident zooplankton sampled by emergence traps in One Tree Lagoon, Great Barrier Reef. *Journal of Experimental MarineBiology Ecology* 52, 185–203.
- MILLS, M. M. (2000). Corals feeding on sediments? Ingestion, assimilation, and contributions to coral nutrition. PhD Thesis, University of Maryland, College Park, Maryland.
- MILLS, M. M., LIPSCHULTZ, F. & SEBENS, K. P. (2004). Particulate matter ingestion and associated nitrogen uptake by four species of scleractinian corals. *Coral Reefs* 23(3), 311–323.
- MILLS, M. M. & SEBENS, K. P. (1997). Particle ingestion efficiency of the corals Siderastrea siderea and Agaricia agaricites. Effects of flow speed and sediment loads. Proceedings of 8<sup>th</sup> Coral Reef Symposium. 1059–1064
- MILLS, M. M. & SEBENS, K. P. (2004). Ingestion and assimilation of nitrogen from benthic sediments by three species of coral. *Marine Biology* 145(6), 1097–1106.
- MORIARTY, D. W. J., POLLARD, P. C., ALONGI, D. M., WILKINSON, C. R. & GRAY, J. S. (1985). Bacterial productivity and trophic relationships with consumers on a coral reef. *Proceedings of 5<sup>th</sup> International Coral Reef Symposium.* 3, 457–462.
- MULLER-PARKER, G., COOK, C. B. & D'ELIA, C. F. (1994a). Elemental composition of the coral *Pocillopora damicornis* exposed to elevated sea water ammonium. *Pacific Science* **48**, 234–246.
- MULLER-PARKER, G., MCCLOSKEY, L. R., HOEGH-GULDBERG, O. & MCAULEY, P. J. (1994b). Effect of ammonium enrichment on animal and algal biomass of the coral *Pocillopora damicornis*. *Pacific Science* 48, 273–282.
- MUSCATINE, L. (1973). Nutrition of corals. In *Biology and Geology of* coral reefs (eds. O. A. Jones and R. Endean), pp. 77–115. Academic Press. New York.
- MUSCATINE, L. (1980). Productivity of zooxanthellae. In *Primary* productivity in the Sea (eds. P. G. FALKOWSKI), pp. 381–402. Plenum Publishing Corporation. New York.
- MUSCATINE, L. (1990) The role of symbiotic algae in carbon and energy flux in reef corals. In *Ecosystems of the World. Coral Reefs* (eds. Z. DUBINSKY). Elsevier, Amsterdam. 25, 75–84.
- MUSCATINE, L., FALKOWSKI, P. G., PORTER, J. W. & DUBINSKY, Z. (1984). Fate of photosynthetic fixed carbon in light- and shadeadapted colonies of the symbiotic coral *Stylophora pistillata*. *Proceedings of Royal Society of London B* 222, 181–202.
- MUSCATINE, L. FALKOWSKI, P. G., DUBINSKY, Z., COOK, P. A. & MCCLOSKEY, L. R. (1989). The effect of external nutrient resources on the population dynamics of zooxanthellae in a reef coral. *Proceedings of Royal Society of London B* 236(1284), 311–324.
- MUSCATINE, L., FERRIER-PAGÈS, C., BLACKBURN, A., GATES, R. D., BAGHDASARIAN, G. & ALLEMAND, D. (1998). Cell-specific density

of symbiotic dinoflagellates in tropical anthozoaires. *Coral Reefs* **17**, 329–337.

- MUSCATINE, L. & KAPLAN, I. R. (1994). Resource partitioning by reef corals as determined from stable isotope composition. II. Delta 15-N of zooxanthellae and animal tissue versus depth. *Pacific Science* 48, 304–312.
- MUSCATINE, L. & PORTER, J. W. (1977). Reef corals: mutualistic symbioses adapted to nutrient-poor environments. *Bioscience* 27, 454–460.
- MUSCATINE, L. & WEIS, V. (1992). Productivity of zooxanthellae and biogeochemical cycles. In *Primary productivity and biogeochemical cycles in the sea*. (P. G. FALKOWSKI and A. D. Woodhead) (eds.), pp 257–271. Plenum Press. New-York.
- OHLHORST, S. L. (1982). Diel migration patterns of demersal reef zooplankton. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 60, 1–15.
- PALARDY, J. E., GROTTOLI, A. G. & MATTHEWS, K. A. (2005). Effects of upwelling, depth, morphology and polyp size on feeding in three species of Panamian corals. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **300**, 79–89.
- PALARDY, J. E, GROTTOLI, A. G. & MATTHEWS, K. A. (2006). Effect of naturally changing zooplankton concentrations on feeding rates of two coral species in the Eastern Pacific. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **331**, 99–107.
- PALENIK, B. & MOREL, F. M. M. (1990). Amino acid utilization by marine phytoplankton : a novel mechanism. *Limnology & Oceanography* 35, 260–269.
- PINIAK, G. (2002). Effects of symbiotic status, flow speed, and prey type on prey capture by the facultatively symbiotic temperate coral *Oculina arbuscula*. *Marine Biology* **141**, 449–455.
- PINIAK, G. & LIPSCHULTZ, F. (2004). Effects of nutritional history on nitrogen assimilation in congeneric temperate and tropical scleractinian corals. *Marine Biology* **145**, 1085–1096.
- PLATT, T., RAO, D. V. S. & IRWIN, B. (1983). Photosynthesis of picoplankton in the oligotrophic ocean. *Nature* **301(5902)**, 702–704.
- POMEROY, L. R. (1974). Oceans food web, a changing paradigm. *Bioscience* 24(9), 499–504.
- PORTER, J. W. (1974). Zooplankton feeding by the Caribbean reefbuilding coral Montastrea cavernosa. Proceedings of 2<sup>nd</sup> International Coral Reef Symposium 1, 111–125.
- PORTER, J. W. (1976). Autotrophy, heterotrophy and resource partitioning in Caribbean reef-building corals. *The American Naturalist* **110**(975), 731–742.
- PORTER, J. W., MUSCATINE, L., DUBINSKY, Z. & FALKOWSKI, P. G. (1984) – Primary production and photoadaptation in light- and shade-adapted colonies of the symbiotic coral, *Stylophora pistillata*. *Proceeding of the Royal Society of London B.* **222**,161–180.
- PORTER, J. W. & PORTER J. G. (1977). Quantitative sampling of demersal plankton migrating from different coral reef substrate. *Limnology & Oceanography* 22, 553–555.
- PRÉZELIN, B. B. (1987). Photosynthetic physiology of dinoflagellates. In *The Biology of dinoflagellates* (eds. F. J. R. Taylor) Blackwell Scientific. Publications. Oxford Botanical Monographs. 21, 174–223.
- RAHAV, O., DUBINSKY, Z., ACHITUV, Y. & FALKOWSKI, P. G. (1989). Ammonium metabolism in the zooxanthellate coral, *Stylophora* pistillata. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 236, 325–337.
- REES, T. A. V. & ALLARD, F. M. (1989). Nitrogen conservation and the green hydra symbiosis. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London* B 236, 203–212.
- RIBES, M. & ATKINSON, M. J. (2007). Effects of water velocity on picoplankton uptake by coral reef communities. *Coral Reefs* 26(2), 413–421.

- RIBES, M., COMA, R., ATKINSON, M. J. & KINZIE III R. A. (2005). Sponges and ascidians control removal of particulate organic nitrogen from coral reef water. *Limnology & Oceanography* 50, 1480– 1489.
- RINKEVITCH, B. (1989). The contribution of photosynthetic products to coral reproduction. *Marine Biology* **101**, 259–263.
- RODRIGUES L. J. & GROTTOLI A. (2006). Calcification rate and the stable carbon, oxygen, and nitrogen isotopes in the skeleton, host tissue, and zooxanthellae of bleached and recovering Hawaiian corals. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* **70**(11), 2781–2789.
- RODRIGUES, L. & GROTTOLI, A. G. (2007). Energy reserves and metabolism as indicators of coral recovery from bleaching. *Limnology & Oceanography* 52(5), 1874–1882.
- Rosenfeld, M., Bresler, V. & Abelson, A. (1999). Sediment as a possible source of food for corals. *Ecology Letters* 2, 345–348.
- SAMMARCO, P. W. & CRENSHAW, H. C. (1984). Plankton community dynamics of the Central Great Barrier Reef Lagoon: analysis of data from Ikeda *et al. Marine Biology* 82, 167–180.
- SAMMARCO, P. W., RISK, M. J., SCHWARCZ, H. P. & HEIKOOP, J. M. (1999). Cross-continental shelf trends in coral delta N-15 on the Great Barrier Reef: further consideration of the reef nutrient paradox. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 180, 131–138.
- SCHLICHTER, D. (1982). Nutritional strategies of Cnidarians The absorption, translocation and utilization of dissolved nutrients by *Heteroxenia fuscescens. American Zoologist* **22**(3), 659–669.
- SEBENS, K. P. & DERIEMER, K. (1977). Diel cycles of expansion and contraction in coral reef anthozoans. *Marine Biology* 43, 247–256.
- SEBENS, K. P., GRACE, S., HELMUTH, B., MANEY, E. & MILES, J. (1998). Water flow and prey capture by three scleractinian corals, *Madracis mirabilis*, *Montastrea cavernosa*, and *Porites porites* in a field enclosure. *Marine Biology* **131**(2), 347–360.
- SEBENS, K. P. & JOHNSON, A. S. (1991). Effects of water movement on prey capture and distribution of reef corals. *Hydrobiologia* 226, 91–101.
- SEBENS, K. P., VANDERSALL, K. S., SAVINA, L. A. & GRAHAM, K. R. (1996). Zooplankton capture by two scleractinian corals *Madracis* mirabilis and *Montastrea cavernosa* in a field enclosure. *Marine Biology* **127**, 303–317.
- SEBENS, K. P., WITTING, J. & HELMUTH, B. (1997). Effects of water flow and branch spacing on particle capture by the reef coral Madracis mirabilis (Duchassaing and Michelotti). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **211**, 1–28.
- SNIDVONGS, A. & KINZIE, R. A. (1994). Effects of nitrogen and phosphorus enrichement on *in vivo* symbiotic zooxanthellae of *Pocillopora danicornis. Marine Biology* **118**, 705–711.
- SOROKIN, Y. I. (1973). Role of microflora in metabolism and productivity of Hawaiian Reefs. *Oceanology-USSR* **13**(2), 262–267.
- SOROKIN, Y. U. (1991). Biomass, metabolic rates and feeding of some common reef Zoantharians and Octocorals. Australian Journal Marine and Freshwater Research 42, 729–741.
- SOROKIN, Y. I. (1993). Coral Reef Ecology. Ecological Studies. pp. 465. Springer-Verlag. Berlin.
- STAMBLER, N., POPPER, N., DUBINSKY, Z. & STIMSON, J. (1991). Effects of nutrient enrichment and water motion on the coral *Pocillopora damicornis. Pacific Science* 45, 299–307.
- STEPHENS, G. C. (1960). Uptake of glucose from solution by the solitary coral, Fungia. *Science* 131, 1532–1532.
- STEPHENS, G. C. (1962). Uptake of organic material by aquatic invertebrates. I. Uptake of glucose by the solitary coral, *Fungia scutaria. Biological Bulletin* **123**, 648–659.
- STEPHENS, G. C. & SCHINSKE, R. A. (1961). Uptake of amino acids by invertebrates. *Limnology & Oceanography* 6, 175–181.

- STOCKNER, J. G. & ANTIA, N. J. (1986). Algal picoplankton from marine and freshwater ecosystems: A multidisciplinary perspective. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 43, 2472–2503.
- SWANSON, R. & HOEGH-GULDBERG, O. (1998). Amino acid synthesis in the symbiotic sea anemone *Aiptasia pulchella*. *Marine Biology* 131, 83–93.
- SZMANT-FROELICH, A. & PILSON, M. E. Q. (1980). The effects of feeding frequency and symbiosis with zooxanthellae on the biochemical composition of *Astrangia danae* Milne Edwards and Haime 1849. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 48, 85–97.
- SZMANT, A. M., FERRIER, L. M. & FITZGERALD, L. M. (1990). Nitrogen excretion and atomic oxygen to nitrogen ratios in reef corals: evidence for conservation of nitrogen. *Marine Biology* **104**, 119–128.
- TADA, K., SAKAI, K., NAKANO, Y., TAKEMURA A. & MONTANI, S. (2003). Size-fractioned phytoplankton biomass in coral reef waters off Sesoko Island, Okinawa, Japan. *Journal of Plankton Research* 25(8), 991–997.
- TAMBUTTÉ, E., ALLEMAND, D., MUELLER, E. & JAUBERT, J. (1996). A compartmental approach to the mechanism of calcification in hermatypic corals. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **199**, 1029–1041.
- TITLYANOV, E. A., BIL', K., FOMINA, L., TITLYANOVA, T., LELETKIN, V., EDEN, N., MALKIN, A. & DUBINSKY, Z. (2000a). Effects of dissolved ammonium addition and host feeding with Artemia salina on photoacclimation of the hermatypic coral Stylophora pistillata. Marine Biology 137, 463–472.
- TITLYANOV, E. A., TITLYANOVA, T. V., TSUKAHARA, J., VAN WOESIK, R. & YAMAZATO, K. (1999). Experimental Increases of Zooxanthellae Density in the coral *Stylophora pistillata* Elucidate Adaptive Mechanisms for Zooxanthellae Regulation. *Symbiosis* **26**(4), 347–362.
- TITLYANOV, E. A., TITLYANOVA, T. V, YAMAZATO, K. & VAN WOESIK, R. (2001). Photo-acclimation of the hermatypic coral *Stylophora pistillata* while subjected to either starvation or food provisioning. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 257, 163–181.
- TITLYANOV, E. A., TSUKAHARA, J., TITLYANOVA, T. V., LELETKIN, V. A., VAN WOESIK, R. & YAMAZATO, K. (2000b). Zooxanthellae population density and physiological state of the coral *Stylophora pistillata* during starvation and osmotic shock. *Symbiosis* 28, 303–322.
- TRANTER, D. J. & GEORGE, J. (1969). Zooplankton abundance at Kavaratti and Kalpeni Atolls in the Laccadives. *Marine Biological* Association of India 239–259.
- TREIGNIER, C., GROVER, R., TOLOSA, I. & FERRIER-PAGÈS, C. (2008). Effect of light and feeding on the fatty acid and sterol composition of zooxanthellae and host tissue isolated from the scleractinian coral: *Turbinaria reniformis. Limnology & Oceanography* 53, 2702–2710
- VAISSIÈRE, R. & SEGUIN, G. (1984). Initial observations of the zooplankton microdistribution on the fringing coral reef at Aqaba (Jordan). *Marine Biology* 83, 1–11.
- VAGO, R., GILL, E. & COLLINGWOOD, J. C. (1997). Laser measurements of coral growth. *Nature* 386, 30–31.
- VAUGHAN, T. W. (1919) Corals and the formation of coral reefs. Annual Report of the Smithsonian Institution. 17, 189–238.
- WAFAR, M. V. M., DEVASSY, V. P., SLAWYK, G., GOES, J., JAYAKUMAR, D. A. & RAJENDRAN, A. (1985). Nitrogen uptake by phytoplankton and zooxanthellae in a coral atoll. *Proceedings of Fifth International Coral Reef Congress* 6, 29–37.
- WAFAR, M. V. M., WAFAR, S. & RAJ KUMAR, R. (1993). Nitrogen uptake kinetics of freshly isolated zooxanthellae. *Indian Journal of Marine Sciences* 22, 83–88.

- WAINWRIGHT, S. A. (1963). Skeletal organization in the coral, Pocillopora damicornis. Quaterly Journal of Microscopic Science 104, 169–183.
- WANG, J. T. & DOUGLAS, A. E. (1998). Nitrogen recycling or nitrogen conservation in an alga-invertebrate symbiosis? *Journal* of Experimental Biology 201, 2445–2453.
- WEBBER, M. K. & ROFF J. C. (1995). Annual structure of the copepod community and its associated pelagic environment off Discovery Bay, Jamaica. *Marine Biology* **123**, 467–479.
- WEINER, S. & ADDADI, L. (1991). Acidic macromolecules of mineralized tissues. The controllers of crystal formation. *Trends* in *Biochemical Sciences* 16, 252–256.
- WELLINGTON, G. M. (1982). An experimental analysis of the effects of light and zooplankton on coral zonation. *Oecologia*. 52, 311–320.
- WILD, C., HUETTEL, M., KLUETER, A., KREMB, S. G., RASHEED, M. Y. D. & JØRGENSEN, B. B. (2004). Coral mucus as an energy carrier and particle trap in the reef ecosystem. *Nature* **428**, 66–70.
- WITTING, J. H. (1999). Zooplankton capture and coral growth : the role of heterotrophy in Carribbean reef corals. PhD Thesis, Boston, M.A. USA.
- YAHEL, G., POST, A. F., FABRICIUS, K., MARIE, D., VAULOT, D. & GENIN, A. (1998). Phytoplankton distribution and grazing near coral reefs. *Limnology & Oceanography* 43(4), 551–563.

- YAHEL, R., YAHEL, G. & BERMAN, T. (2005a). Diel pattern with abrupt crepuscular changes of zooplankton over a coral reef. *Limnology & Oceanography* 50(3), 930–944.
- YAHEL, R., YAHEL, G. & GENIN, A. (2005b). Near-bottom depletion of zooplankton over coral reefs: I: diurnal dynamics and size distribution. *Coral Reefs* 24, 75–85.
- YAMAMURO, M., KAYANNE, H. & MINAGAWA, M. (1995). Carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes of primary producers in coral reef ecosystems. *Limnology & Oceanography* 40, 617–621.
- YONGE, C. M. (1930a). Studies on the physiology of corals. I. Feeding mechanisms and food, *Scientific Reports of The Great Barrier Reef Expedition*. 1, 13–57.
- YONGE, C. M. (1930b). Studies on the physiology of corals. III. Assimilation and excretion. *Scientific Reports of The Great Barrier Reef Expedition.* 1, 83–91.
- YONGE, C. M. & NICHOLLS, A. G. (1931). Studies on the physiology of corals. IV. The structure, distribution and physiology of the zooxanthellae. *Scientific Reports of The Great Barrier Reef Expedition.* 1, 135–176.
- YOUNG, S. D. (1971). Organic material from scleractinian skeletons. I. Variation in composition between several species. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* **40B**, 113–120.